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We are pleased to present our 
results for the Financial Year 2018.

This was a strong year for us, 
after successfully embedding 
prior year acquisitions.

We continued to grow and 
provide working capital solutions 
to over 1,600 SME customers  
to assist them to improve their 
cash flow, grow their businesses 
and support their customer 
collections to free up time  
to reinvest in their business.

We achieved strong growth 
against the prior year with 
organic growth in our loan book 
up 14%, net revenue up 8.2% and 
a statutory net profit before tax 
of $41.3m, up 50%. At the same 
time, expenses were carefully 
managed with the underlying 
operating cost to income ratio 
reducing to 50.2%, down 2.2%. 
Ongoing strict credit control 
resulted in a one-off downward  
adjustment of $1.1m to bad  
and doubtful debts general 
provision, to align with lower 
historic loss rates.

During the year, we continued  
to build out the foundations of 
our strategy and future growth. 
This includes migrating all 
customer administration onto  
a single platform, extending our 
product offering to our existing 
Debtor Finance customers 
through our Specialised  
Finance products and building 
core internal capabilities in 
Customer Experience, Product 
Development and Treasury.

ACHIEVEMENTS
CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE

Our business is based on 
relationships and our purpose  
is to give business owners  
a better chance of success.  
We offer an essential service  
to a widely underserviced  
group of SMEs and providing  
our customers with the highest 
level of service is key. 

Investment in new technologies 
and systems will continue to 
improve our customer experience 
by making it easier for our 
customers and intermediaries  
to do business with us. During the 
year we successfully completed 
the largest component of the 
migration onto a single customer 
administration platform. 

Customer satisfaction is a key 
focus area, with the introduction 
of a standardised Net Promoter 
Score during the year to gain 
customer feedback on their 
relationship satisfaction. Based 
on the initial survey in January 
2018, the overall NPS was +15 
which, whilst higher than the 
industry average, provides  
scope for future improvement, 
particularly as the new  
platform becomes more  
familiar to customers.

Ongoing efforts on customer 
retention across the business  
has resulted in improved 
retention throughout the year. 

PEOPLE

We are extremely proud of our 
staff who continue to go above 
and beyond to service our 
customers and deliver change 
within our business. Our people 
foster a strong culture and live 
our values that continues to 
attract others to join the business. 
We now have over 280 staff 
spread across, Australia, 
New Zealand, China and the UK.

This year has been particularly 
busy with the migration onto  
a single customer administration 
platform. Despite the migration 
challenges during the year, staff 
engagement remained strong 
with an employee engagement 
score of 64% compared to an 
overall external benchmark of 
61%. Unplanned staff turnover 
was just under 17%, in line  
with the national average  
but expected to improve  
as the number of change 
initiatives reduce.

Not only did staff remain 
engaged, they also embraced 
working together for the wider 
community. In January 2018, 
Scottish Pacific launched a 
Workplace Giving Program, 
“Scotpac Gives Back!” 
Fundraising efforts by staff, 
along with contributions to  
the new workplace giving 
program, contributed over 
$140,000 to our Charity Partners: 
The Black Dog Institute, RedKite 
and The Salvation Army as well 
as 10 other charities across 
Australia and New Zealand. 

Chairman and  
Chief Executive’s Report
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Scottish Pacific has a fundraising 
matching policy, where we match 
the fundraising efforts of our staff, 
whether as a group or individually. 
We also encourage staff to take 
paid days to conduct charity work.

Employee wellbeing is also an 
ongoing focus with a Wellness 
Program launched to encourage 
and support our people to be 
and feel their best both at work 
and at home.

SALES AND MARKETING

Further investment has been 
made to improve sales and 
marketing, including new  
teams focused on product 
development, partnerships, 
customer experience and 
customer insights. 

Market research during the  
year confirmed the untapped 
market potential for SME 
financing and the way the 
business needs to evolve to 
match changes in consumer 
behaviour. Speed, convenience 
and simplicity are key drivers of 
choice, with technology a key 
enabler. Under the ‘ScotPac 2021’ 
Strategy, targeted sales and 
marketing efforts have been 
identified to expand our working 
capital product offer and extend 
our key channels and partnerships.

Finance brokers, aggregators and 
accountants remain key referral 
partners. Our level of business 
sourced from our direct marketing 
team via internet and phone 
enquiries continues to increase, 
and we are working on ways  
to further improve conversion 
rates, particularly through the 
use of technology. 

RISK MANAGEMENT

During the year, the Scottish 
Pacific Risk Appetite Statement 
was approved to strengthen the 
risk framework across the business 
and to closely align to the strategy. 
This is used to set tolerances for 
risks and opportunities and to 
help identify and respond to 
material business risks.

Sound credit policies, customer 
assessment prior to on-boarding 
and ongoing monitoring 
continues to produce strong 
credit risk management outcomes. 
As a result of low levels of historic 
losses over 10 years, a one-off 
downward adjustment of  
$1.1m was made to the general 
provision during the year to align 
to an ongoing general provision 
of 0.30% of customer balances. 
Underlying bad and doubtful 
debt expense (or specific 
provision) was just 0.12%  
of customer balances, down 
marginally on the prior year.

Operational risk has been  
a focus in response to business 
complexity and growth, with  
new investment in operational 
risk management systems,  
the development and roll out  
of company-wide compliance 
training modules and a focused 
effort on embedding operational 
risk principles within the business.

EXPANDING THE MARKET

Based on our customer feedback, 
we have been able to identify 
areas of unmet need for our 
customers and the wider SME 
market. We have increased  
our investment in product 
development staff and are 
currently developing and 
launching several new products 
including secured loans, 
equipment finance and other 
asset backed lending. The new 
products and marketing strategy 
will ultimately expand the target 
market to over 1 million SMEs. 

Our digital platform development 
is underway and is expected to 
provide quicker and easier access 
to working capital that SMEs 
have told us they need. The fast 
approval process will attract 
businesses that previously  
may have seen debtor finance  
as too overwhelming. 
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14.0%

+15

Organic loan book growth

Customer NPS

We have a solid and reputable 
brand and through strategic 
partnerships, Scottish Pacific  
will have access to new channels 
to market. 

COMPETITIVE MARKET 
POSITIONING

There are over 2 million SMEs 
across Australia, with over  
half requiring external financing 
and most identifying cash flow  
as their biggest challenge.

Scottish Pacific is the largest 
provider of debtor finance  
to SMEs in Australia and  
New Zealand to just over 1,600 
customers. This scale provides  
a number of unique benefits 
including access to low cost 
funding, an existing customer 
base to expand working capital 
solutions and investment in  
new technology, marketing  
and product development. 

With 30 years of experience, 
Scottish Pacific has a proven 
ability to navigate successfully 
through economic cycles whilst 
continuing to support the funding 
needs of SMEs, provide good 
career opportunities for its 
people and to grow the business, 
generating a steady return to  
its shareholders.

Based on the addressable market 
and existing scale, the Scottish 
Pacific business is well positioned 
to continue to grow.

We are excited about the future 
of Scottish Pacific and appreciate 
the support of all of our customers, 
staff, shareholders and Board.

THE FUTURE

The company has entered  
into a Scheme Implementation 
Agreement with an entity 
associated with Affinity Equity 
Partners, to acquire all the 
outstanding equity (with  
the opportunity for some 
management shareholders  
to roll part of their holding) at 
$4.40 per share. The scheme 
remains conditional on several 
issues including the approval  
of shareholders. Shareholders  
will be asked to vote in relation  
to the scheme at a meeting to  
be held on 30 November, 2018, 
immediately prior to the AGM.

Yours sincerely,

 
Patrick Elliott  
Chairman

 
Peter Langham 
Chief Executive Officer  
and Executive Director
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Directors’ Report
 

The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity  
(the Group) consisting of Scottish Pacific Group Limited (the Company or Parent entity) and the entities  
it controlled at the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

DIRECTORS
The names and particulars of the Board of Directors of the Company (the Board) during or since the end 
of the financial year are:

DIRECTOR BIOGRAPHY

Patrick Elliott 
Non-Executive 
Chairman

Patrick was appointed to the board on 29 May 2013.

He is a founding Partner of private equity firm Next Capital where he is a director of 
a number of portfolio companies.

Prior to founding Next Capital, Patrick was an Executive Director of Macquarie Bank 
having joined the private equity division in 1997, with experience in a broad range  
of sectors including financial services, retail, industrial and consumer products and 
services. Patrick was Chairman of JB Hi-Fi Limited from 2000 to 2012 and Chairman 
of the Australian Venture Capital Association Limited (AVCAL) in 2004.

Patrick holds a Master of Business Administration (Hons) from IMD (Switzerland)  
and a Bachelor of Commerce/Law from The University of New South Wales.

Special responsibilities:
Chair – Remuneration & Nominations Committee
Member – Audit and Risk Committee

Peter Langham 
Chief Executive 
Officer and 
Executive Director

Peter has over 34 years of experience in the Debtor Finance industry with  
experience in audit and credit, international factoring, client management and sales.

In 1988, Peter joined Bank of Scotland Debtor Finance business in a sales role and 
was appointed as Head of Sales for England and Wales in 1991.

In 1993, Peter joined Scottish Pacific (then owned by Bank of Scotland) and in 1997 
Peter joined AGC, the Debtor Finance arm of Westpac, before establishing 
Benchmark Debtor Finance Pty Limited in 1998.

In 2005, the founding shareholders of Benchmark Debtor Finance sold their  
interests to BA Ventures Limited and Benchmark continued on a growth path  
which culminated in the acquisition of Scottish Pacific Business Finance in 2007.

Peter has remained CEO since 2005.

Peter Clare 
Independent 
Non-Executive 
Director

Peter was appointed to the board on 18 December 2014.

Peter is the former CEO of Westpac New Zealand and prior to that, held numerous 
senior roles within Westpac and St. George.

Peter holds a Master of Business Administration from Macquarie University  
and a Bachelor of Commerce from The University of New South Wales.

He is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and the  
Governance Institute of Australia and a fellow of CPA Australia and the  
Financial Services Institute of Australasia (“FINSIA”).

Special responsibilities:
Member – Remuneration & Nominations Committee

Directorships of other listed companies:
Change Financial Limited CCA.AX (Chairman) – Since April 2015
Dubber Corporation Limited DUB.AX (Chairman) – Since December 2017
Rubik Financial Ltd – July 2016 to May 2017
Reffind Limited (Chairman) – April 2015 to November 2016
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DIRECTOR BIOGRAPHY

Katrina Onishi 
Independent 
Non-Executive 
Director

Katrina was appointed to the board on 9 June 2016.

Until 2010, Katrina was an Executive Director of Concord Capital Limited,  
a boutique funds management business that she co-founded in 2000.

Prior to co-founding Concord, Katrina held several funds management roles both  
in Australia and overseas.

Katrina holds a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) from The University of Sydney and is 
a Chartered Financial Analyst. Katrina is a member of the CFA Institute, a graduate 
member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and a fellow of FINSIA.

Special responsibilities:
Member – Audit and Risk Committee

Directorships of other listed companies:
Plato Income Maximiser Limited (Non-Executive Director) – Since February 2017
Vitaco Holdings Limited (Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Audit 
Committee) – August 2015 to December 2016

Andrew Love 
Independent 
Non-Executive 
Director

Andrew was appointed to the board on 9 June 2016.

Andrew has over 35 years of experience in restructuring and corporate insolvency, 
with a particular focus on the mining sector.

Andrew was a partner at Ferrier Hodgson Chartered Accountants for over 25 years 
until 2008, when as a Senior Partner he retired and remains a Consultant.

Andrew is a member of both the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand 
and the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Andrew holds a Bachelor of Commerce from The University of New South Wales.

Special responsibilities:
Chair – Audit and Risk Committee

Directorships of other listed companies:
Gateway Lifestyle Group (Non-Executive Chairman) – Since May 2015
Champion Iron Limited (Non-Executive Director) – Since April 2014

COMPANY SECRETARIES
David Rose was appointed as Company Secretary on 14 November 2017 after taking on the  
Group CFO role in November 2017. He holds a Bachelor of Science Degree (First Class) from the 
University of Manchester (UK). David is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in  
England & Wales, with over 20 years of experience working in Financial Services as a CFO/Group 
Accountant with Commonwealth Bank and NAB; and as a Financial Services Partner at PwC.  
He attended Board Meetings from November 2017 to June 2018.

Emma Lawler was appointed as Company Secretary in August 2016 and has over 20 years of  
experience as a company secretary. Emma holds a Bachelor of Business and a Graduate Diploma  
in Applied Corporate Governance and is a Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia.  
Emma attended meetings from July 2017 to June 2018.

Chris Hedge was appointed as Company Secretary in January 2016 and ceased as company secretary  
on 13 November 2017. Chris attended meetings from July 2017 to October 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Group’s principal activities in the course of the financial year were the provision of debtor finance  
and the provision of trade finance. The Company is a for profit company.
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DIVIDENDS
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2017, a dividend of 31.6 cents per share (total of 
$36.3 million) franked to 100% at 30% corporate income tax rate was paid to holders of ordinary shares  
in the Company on 13 July 2016. This dividend was subject to the Initial Public Offer (IPO) of the Group 
which occurred on the same date. An interim dividend of 8.0 cents per share (total of $11.1 million) franked 
to 100% at 30% corporate income tax rate was paid to holders of ordinary shares in the Company on 
22 March 2017. A final dividend of 8.5 cents per share (total of $11.8 million) franked to 100% at 30% 
corporate income tax rate was paid to holders of ordinary shares in the Company on 22 September 2017.

In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2018, an interim dividend of 9.0 cents per share (total of 
$12.5 million) franked to 100% at 30% corporate income tax rate was paid to holders of ordinary shares  
in the Company on 22 March 2018.

A final dividend of 10.0 cents per share (total of $13.9 million) franked to 100% at 30% corporate income 
tax rate payable to holders of ordinary shares in the Company was declared on 28 August 2018.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The profit for the Group after providing for income tax amounted to $33.3m (FY17: $20.4m).

The Board presents its operating and financial review for the year ended 30 June 2018 to provide 
shareholders with an overview of the Group’s operations, financial position, business strategies and 
prospects for the future. This review complements the financial report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Scottish Pacific Group Limited is a long standing, specialised financial services provider. Specifically,  
the Group provides working capital to small and medium sized enterprises (“SMEs”) operating in 
Australia, New Zealand (“NZ”) and the United Kingdom (“UK”). The Group has developed a highly 
specialised credit underwriting and credit management capability. This expertise is used to provide 
working capital to a wide range of businesses from those that are in start-up phase right through to  
small publicly listed companies that have been trading for many years.

Debtor finance continues to be the most popular type of working capital facility that the Group provides 
and has been for all of the 30 years that the Group has been trading. Debtor finance represents over  
90% of the Group’s total loan exposure and we estimate that the Group continues to hold a market share 
of at least 20% of the debtor finance market within Australia.

The Group also provides specialised finance facilities to clients. Specialised finance comprises secured 
asset backed lending solutions such as single invoice finance, progress claim finance, bad debt protection 
and asset finance loans. It also entails the financing of specific transactions involving the purchase of goods 
by Australian, NZ or UK buyers. The Group’s specialised finance businesses are still young and represent 
less than 10% of the Group’s total loan exposure. However, it is an area where the Directors believe further 
growth can be driven in its own right and as a means to secure new debtor finance customers.

Integration of Recent Acquisitions
The integration of the staff and clients of the Bibby Australia and New Zealand business and the client 
portfolios of GE and Suncorp was completed in FY17. The next stage of this integration process commenced 
in FY18 and comprises a number of facets. Firstly, the operating systems of the three acquisitions and  
the Scottish Pacific legacy business are being combined onto a single Customer Administration platform. 
This is being progressively rolled out through the Group’s operating centres, with the largest and most 
complex legacy operating system fully migrated in FY18. This project remains on track for completion in 
first half of FY19. Secondly, the Group is now looking to standardise and streamline the way it services its 
clients to enhance the customer experience and improve cost efficiency.

Our Staff
Scottish Pacific is a service business and the key to delivering exceptional service to our clients is an 
engaged and motivated workforce. The management team will continue to focus on staff engagement 
within our business as a key differentiator. The most recent Staff Engagement survey results showed 
a slight decrease on those of the previous year, reflective of the ongoing changes within the Company.  
As always, detailed initiatives have been developed off the back of staff surveys to improve staff 
engagement. Several new employee benefits have been launched including a Wellness Program  
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which aims to encourage and support our people to be and feel their best both at work and at home. 
During FY18, ‘unplanned staff turnover’ was 16.6%, which is in line with the national average.

In January 2018, the Group launched its own workplace giving program “ScotPac Gives Back!”. 
Fundraising efforts by staff along with contributions to the new workplace giving program contributed 
over $140,000 to our Charity Partners: The Black Dog Institute, RedKite and The Salvation Army as well 
as 10 other charities across Australia and New Zealand.

New Business and Trading Performance
The majority of the Group’s new clients are referred by third parties (e.g. finance brokers, accountants, 
business advisors, bankers and past and present clients). A concerted effort to lift the proportion and 
absolute level of new business generated by online origination and other direct contact commenced  
three years ago and continues to be very successful. Direct business is now contributing more than  
20% of new business on a sustained basis. Traditional introducer channels continue to also perform well, 
with broker enquiries as a percentage of total enquires growing 7% on the prior corresponding period.

The Company’s loan book growth has continued its strong long term trend. The average exposure for the 
financial year to June 2018 was 15% higher than the prior corresponding period. The renewed focus on 
client service and the ability to offer more than just debtor finance has assisted in reducing client attrition 
down 28% on the prior corresponding period. Approximately 13% of debtor finance customers now have 
at least one other product. The average lend per customer has continued to grow which, whilst increasing 
overall Group profitability, has changed the net revenue mix with proportionally less management fees 
and higher net interest income.

The performance of the UK business has been weaker than expected leading into and across FY18.  
Whilst the operations represents less than 1% of the Group’s loan book, the UK remains a significant 
opportunity. As a result of past performance, a change in leadership of the UK business was made 
appointing Chris Hedge (former CFO) to develop and lead a turnaround plan which was approved by the 
Board in February 2018. Under this Plan the UK sales force has been bolstered with an experienced sales 
manager and a refocused sales pipeline, an increase of products offered and more competitive pricing.

Bad and Doubtful Debts
The Group’s performance on managing Bad and Doubtful Debts saw a continuation of the trend that 
developed in FY17, with good recoveries and minimal specific provisions. As a result of ongoing low historic 
losses, the collective provision has been adjusted down by $1.1m in FY18 to provide coverage at 0.30%. The 
business continues to see benefits from the investment made in credit risk resources (people and systems) 
and management are committed to maintaining the high standards of lending established over many years.

FUNDING
The Group’s business operations are now funded by a mix of four warehouse facilities, a mezzanine 
facility, a corporate debt facility and surplus cash generated from normal business operations. Warehouse 
facilities exist where third party funders provide limited recourse financing to special purpose vehicles 
(SPVs) that have been established by the Group to fund the purchase of receivables. These facilities are 
asset backed and are non-recourse to the Group. As at 30 June 2018 the Group had $1,334m in approved 
warehouse facilities with $342m of availability. Mezzanine facilities are also asset backed and are non-
recourse to the Group. Mezzanine facilities provide credit enhancement to the SPVs. As at 30 June 2018 
the Group had $60m in approved mezzanine facilities, with $50m drawn and $10m available.

Corporate Debt facilities fund a range of general corporate expenses, working capital needs and new 
products not funded through the existing warehouse facilities. This debt is guaranteed by and has 
recourse to the Group. The Group had $70m in approved corporate debt facilities as at 30 June 2018,  
with $59m drawn and $11m available.

PRINCIPAL RISKS
The Group’s key risks include but are not limited to:

Debtors and Clients Unable to Meet Their Financial Obligations
As a provider of working capital to businesses, the most fundamental risk to the Group is that its  
clients and debtors do not meet their financial obligations. Whilst primary repayments are through  
debtor collections, the Group also has recourse to the client. Further, surplus collateralisation of  
assigned receivables and strong underwriting standards mitigate the risk of material loss.
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Major Fraud Events
The Group is exposed to the risk that counterparties with which it deals, including clients and debtors, may 
act fraudulently. This may include inducing the Group to advance funds against false invoices. The Group 
relies on its internal controls to detect fraud. Any failure of these controls could result in losses, damage to 
the Group’s reputation and impact on the ability to raise funding. Underwriting experience accumulated 
over 30 years, knowledge of industry and client specific risks, as well as continuously improving credit 
review processes and a highly diversified loan book act to mitigate the risk of material loss from fraud.

Funding Risk
A loss of or adverse impact on any one of the Group’s funding sources could limit the Group’s ability  
to continue to fund its existing business and/or to write new business if it could not find an alternative 
financier. This risk has been substantially mitigated by the diversification of the Group’s funding platform 
and the mix of large, regulated financial institutions providing funds to the Group.

The Group continues to meet the portfolio requirements of all of its wholesale funders; a position that  
has been enhanced by the exceptional performance with Bad & Doubtful Debts during FY18.

Regulatory Changes
The Group operates in an environment where there is a relatively low level of regulation. Changes in law  
or regulation in any of these markets could materially impact the business.

BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS
The Board and Executive management team remain focussed on continuing to deliver robust organic 
business growth over the long term.

In Australia, NZ and the UK, SMEs continue to be underserved by traditional bank lending practices and  
it is this opportunity that Scottish Pacific seeks to maximise. Successful product innovation has been, and 
will continue to be, an important driver of business growth and the Group ensures that it is well resourced 
to investigate and deliver on new working capital funding initiatives for SMEs.

The existing product portfolio already includes a number of recently introduced products that have not 
yet achieved the level of market penetration that is believed possible. We expect that earnings from these 
new products will grow at a faster rate than the core debtor finance segment.

The Group will always entertain the possibility of further acquisitions that fit with the Group’s strategy, 
provide superior rates of return and add value for shareholders. Such opportunities will always be 
assessed on their individual merits and be subject to a rigorous due diligence process.

Management continue to invest in technology as an enabler and to make processes more efficient. 
A steady stream of new, simpler and lower cost Financial Technology solutions continue to emerge  
and are helping the business move forward.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Income Statement
On a statutory reporting basis, net revenue increased by $8.3m (8.3%) to $108.6m (FY17: $100.3m).  
Total statutory expenses decreased by $5.5m (7.6%) to $67.3m (FY17: $72.8m).

Significant movements include:

• Fee income increased $1.8m (2.6%) reflecting increased customer turnover and a slight reduction  
in margins.

• Net interest income increased $6.5m (20.3%) with income in-line with growth in the average loan  
book over the year of 15.0% together with an improvement of 0.17% in net interest margin.

• Staff costs increased by $4.0m (11.8%) with the biggest drivers being payment of Short Term 
Incentives and a number of strategic new roles filled during the year.

• Office and administration expenses increased with the full impact of public company costs and 
capability spend on Business Performance Improvement and Risk Management.

• Bad and doubtful debts had an overall recovery of $102k, including a $1.1m downward adjustment  
to reduce the historical collective provision to 0.30% to align with lower actual historical loss rates.
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• The implementation of the integrated Customer Administration System saw an additional one-off 
expense of $0.6m for the year, with a further $1.2m of development work capitalised and to be 
amortised once all migration activity is complete. The prior corresponding period included $8.9m 
of one-off spend principally related to the IPO.

The Group recorded a statutory net profit before tax of $41.3m (FY17: $27.5m). This represented 
a substantial increase on the FY17 statutory result but, as outlined above, this trading result does not 
include similar levels of IPO costs incurred in the prior period.

Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet at 30 June 2018 shows the following significant changes when compared to 
30 June 2017:

• Cash decreased 34.9% from $21.8m to $14.2m mainly supporting new products and client facilities not 
funded by the warehouses due to the nature of the security. This adds income but most importantly 
helps win and retain clients.

• Client receivables increased 22.7% from $830.1m to $1,018.6m.

• Drawn securitised debt facilities (after restricted cash) increased 21.3% from $757.8m to $919.2m.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2018 that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect the Group’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Group’s state of affairs  
in future financial years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The Group will continue to explore opportunities for enhanced distribution arrangements and,  
where appropriate, introduce new products to continue to grow our business.

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors (‘the Board’) and of each Board committee 
held during the year ended 30 June 2018, and the number of meetings attended by each director were:

BOARD
AUDIT & RISK 
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION & 
NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE

SPECIAL PURPOSE 
COMMITTEE TO 

APPROVE 
FINANCIAL RESULTS

ATTENDED HELD ATTENDED HELD ATTENDED HELD ATTENDED HELD

Patrick Elliott 11 11 4 4 3 3 2 2

Peter Langham 11 11 – – – – – –

Katrina Onishi 11 11 4 4 – – – –

Andrew Love 11 11 4 4 – – 2 2

Peter Clare 11 11 – – 3 3 – –

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the 
relevant committee.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
This report sets out the remuneration arrangements for the Group’s key management personnel (KMP).  
It forms part of the Directors’ Report and has been prepared and audited in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

KMP are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including all directors. The Group’s KMP for FY18 are referred 
to as non-executive directors or senior executives.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

NAME POSITION

Patrick Elliott Chairman and non-executive director

Peter Clare Independent non-executive director

Katrina Onishi Independent non-executive director

Andrew Love Independent non-executive director

Senior executives

NAME POSITION

Peter Langham Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and director

David Rose (from 14 Nov 2017) Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Chris Hedge (to 14 Nov 2017) Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Steven Davies Chief Operating Officer (COO)

Except as noted, all non-executive directors and senior executives have held their positions for the whole 
of FY18.

PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION
The objective of the Group’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is 
competitive and appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the 
achievement of strategic objectives and the creation of value for shareholders, and it is considered to 
conform to the market best practice for the delivery of reward. The Board ensures that executive reward 
satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance practices:

• competitiveness and reasonableness

• acceptability to shareholders

• performance linkage/alignment of executive compensation

• transparency

• termination payments, if any, are justified and appropriate

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee (RNC) is responsible for determining and reviewing 
remuneration arrangements for its directors and executives. The performance of the Group depends  
on the quality of its directors and executives. The remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and 
retain high performance and high quality personnel. The RNC is comprised of:

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE

NAME POSITION

Patrick Elliott Chairman and member

Peter Clare Member
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From time to time the RNC may engage with external remuneration consultants to review the structure  
of the executive remuneration framework to ensure it is market competitive and complementary to the 
reward strategy of the Group. The RNC did not obtain services from remuneration consultants in FY18.

The reward framework is designed to align executive reward to shareholders’ interests. The Board have 
considered that it should seek to enhance shareholders’ interests by:

• having economic profit as a core component of plan design

• focusing on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of dividends and growth in share price, 
and delivering constant or increasing return on assets

• focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value, particularly customer net promoter  
score (NPS)

• attracting and retaining high calibre executives

Additionally, the reward framework should seek to enhance executives’ interests by:

• rewarding capability and experience

• reflecting competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth

• providing a clear structure for earning rewards

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and 
senior executive remuneration is separate.

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
The Group aims to reward executives based on their position and responsibility, with a level and mix  
of remuneration which has both fixed and variable ‘at-risk’ components.

The executive remuneration and reward framework has three components:

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION AND REWARD FRAMEWORK

FIXED VARIABLE ‘AT-RISK’

FIXED REMUNERATION SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE LONG-TERM INCENTIVE

• Reviewed annually

• Based on individual and 
business unit performance

• Benchmarked against market 
remuneration

• Determined based on financial 
targets set by the Board

• Maximum incentive as 
a proportion of base salary 
range from 30% to 40%

• Delivered in cash

• Grant made in the form of 
options that may be converted 
into share upon vesting

• LTI award is subject to 
a compound growth in 
Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
performance condition

• Participant must be employed 
by the Group on the relevant 
vesting date

• For the CEO and CFO, the 
notional value of the options 
offered is 60% of base salary. 
For other participants, the 
notional value is between  
10% and 30% of base salary.
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Group Performance for FY18
The following table shows the Group’s financial performance in FY18. These financial measures are 
relevant to the discussion of performance conditions for senior executives.

SHARE PERFORMANCE
EARNINGS 

PERFORMANCE DIVIDEND

YEAR

OPENING 
SHARE 
PRICE 

($)

CLOSING 
SHARE 
PRICE 

($)
EPS 
($)

NPAT 
($,000)

CENTS  
PER  

SHARE

FY17 3.20* 2.71 14.79 20,442 16.5

FY18 2.71 3.20 23.95 33,331 19.0

* FY17, This is the opening share price on 13 July 2016, the date of listing on the Australian Securities Exchange.

Fixed Remuneration
Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits, are reviewed 
annually by the RNC based on individual and business unit performance, the overall performance of the 
Group and comparable market remunerations.

Short-term Incentives
The short-term incentives (STI) scheme is the ‘at-risk’ cash-based component of executive remuneration 
which is subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions. The STI scheme has been designed to align 
the performance hurdles of senior executives with the targets of the Group.

Participation Senior executives and other members of the management team are eligible  
to participate in the STI program.

Performance period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018.

Performance 
assessment finalised

Shortly after the release of the audited results of FY18.

Maximum incentive 
as a proportion of 
base salary

30% – 40%

Performance 
condition

The STI award is based on the achievement of net profit after tax (NPAT) 
targets in the Group’s audited financial results. This financial target is set in 
accordance with the Group’s financial strategy and plan for the year.

This performance condition centred on NPAT was chosen by the Board to  
align the interests of the senior executives with the Group’s short-term and 
long-term strategy, and satisfies the following core principles of the Group’s 
remuneration framework:

• having economic profit as a core component of plan design

• attracting and retaining high calibre executives

STI opportunity The STI opportunities of the KMP are set out below:

LEVEL OF PERFORMANCE

THRESHOLD (95% 
OF TARGET NPAT

TARGET (100% 
OF TARGET NPAT)

STRETCH (110% 
OF TARGET NPAT)

Peter Langham 10% of max. STI 60% of max. STI 100% of max. STI

David Rose 10% of max. STI 60% of max. STI 100% of max. STI

Chris Hedge 10% of max. STI 60% of max. STI 100% of max. STI

Steven Davies 10% of max. STI 60% of max. STI 100% of max. STI
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Eligibility 
requirements

• An employee of the Group at payment date

• Employed by the Group for at least six months during the respective 
financial year (a pro rata incentive will be determined where the 
employment period was between six months and twelve months)

• Performance appraisal completed with relevant manager

• Not be under any form of performance management

• Not be a member of another Group cash based incentive scheme  
(e.g. any Sales Incentive Commission Plan)

Option for discretion • The CEO may adjust the portion of the STI awarded to other 
senior executives

• The STI is at the discretion of the CEO and the Board and is subject to 
change or cancellation at any time

Payment date Payments delivered in October 2018 on awarding.

Percentage of STI Payable and Forfeited for Senior Executives for FY18
The table below details the STI awards payable in cash to senior executives, as well as the percentage  
of the maximum that was awarded and forfeited.

SENIOR EXECUTIVES
MAX. STI 

OPPORTUNITY
ACTUAL STI 

AWARDED

ACTUAL STI 
AWARDED  

AS % OF  
MAX. STI

% OF MAX. 
STI AWARD 
FORFEITED

Peter Langham $180,507 $108,304 60% 40%

David Rose (pro rata) $87,836 $52,702 60% 40%

Chris Hedge (pro rata) $48,495 $29,097 60% 40%

Steven Davies $92,233 $55,340 60% 40%

Long-term Incentives
The long-term incentives (LTI) scheme is the ‘at-risk’ equity component of executive remuneration which 
is subject to the satisfaction of long-term performance conditions. The LTI scheme is designed to align 
senior executives’ interests with the interests of the Group’s shareholders by providing the executives an 
opportunity to receive shares through the granting of Options (as described below).

Participation Senior executives and other selected employees of the Group are eligible to 
participate in the LTI scheme.

Grants The Group intends that the maximum notional value of the Options offered  
to the CEO and CFO will be 60% of their total fixed remuneration and other 
selected employees will be between 10% and 30% of their total fixed 
remuneration as determined by the Board.

Options of an amount up to 2,808,147 shares were granted under the FY18 
grant. The value of the Options granted varied between the participants.

• Peter Langham in his capacity as CEO was granted 528,859 Options.

• Chris Hedge in his capacity as CFO was granted 381,953 Options, and 
subsequently forfeited 239,472 Options on 14 November 2017.

• David Rose in his capacity as CFO was granted 258,070 Options on 
14 November 2017.

• Steven Davies in his capacity as COO was granted 180,660 Options.

• Other senior management* were collectively granted 1,698,077 Options.

* Includes options issued to Chris Hedge in his role as Head of UK.
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Options Each Option confers on its holder the entitlement to receive one or more 
Shares at the exercise price upon exercise of the Option.

Exercise price $2.80 (5 day VWAP at 20 August 2017)

Performance period Five years following the date of grant of the Options to the relevant participant.

Expiry of Options Options will expire on a date fixed in the offer letter to the particular employee. 
On the expiry date for an Option, the Option will lapse (unless it has been 
validly exercised).

Performance 
(vesting) conditions

The Options will vest subject to an EPS hurdle over the performance  
period. The EPS vesting percentages will correspond to the Group’s annual 
compounding EPS growth over the performance period (adjusted to take  
into account one-off items associated with the Group’s IPO, if necessary),  
and are as follows:

EPS PERFORMANCE CONDITION 
(ANNUAL COMPOUNDING EPS)

% OF VESTING ENTITLEMENT  
THAT WILL VEST

Less than 8% Nil

8% – 15% The Options will vest on a straight line 
pro rata basis between 30% and 100%

Greater than 15% 100% of the Options will vest

None of the Options will vest during the first two years of the five year 
performance period. During the third, fourth and fifth year of the performance 
period, the Options will vest as follows:

• 1/3 of the Options will vest (in the manner set out above) if the Group  
has achieved the relevant EPS target at the end of the third year of the 
performance period;

• 1/3 of the Options will vest (in the manner set out above) if the Group  
has achieved the relevant EPS target at the end of the fourth year of the 
performance period; and

• 1/3 of the Options will vest (in the manner set out above) if the Group  
has achieved the relevant EPS target at the end of the fifth year of the 
performance period.

To the extent that any Options which vest in years 3 and 4 do not vest due to 
the Group not achieving the relevant EPS target, those Options will be subject 
to retesting based on the Group’s annual compounding EPS performance until 
the Option expires (i.e. in years 4 or 5 (as applicable)).

In addition to the EPS performance condition, it is a vesting condition of each 
of a participant’s tranche of Options that the participant has been continuously 
employed by a member of the Group (and has not resigned or been 
terminated) at all times up to (and including) the relevant vesting date.

The above performance conditions centred on EPS was chosen by the Board  
to align the interests of the senior executives with the Group’s short-term and 
long-term strategy, and satisfies the following core principles of the Group’s 
remuneration framework:

• focusing on sustained growth in shareholder wealth

• having economic profit as a core component of plan design

The inclusion of Relative TSR as a vesting condition was considered but 
rejected due to a lack of a suitable peer group or index.
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Measurement  
of performance 
conditions

At the relevant test date for a tranche, the RNC will determine the annual 
compounding EPS growth rate as at test date and assess whether the EPS 
related performance conditions have been met. These performance conditions 
are retested annually.

Cessation of 
employment of 
holders of Options

If the participant ceases employment, unless the Board determines otherwise, 
any unvested Options will lapse or be forfeited as appropriate.

Restrictions  
on Options

Except as permitted by the Board, a participant must not sell, transfer, 
encumber, hedge or otherwise deal with Options.

Once Options are exercised and Shares are issued in their place, generally no 
disposal restrictions apply to Shares, other than the restrictions that apply 
under the Company’s Securities Trading Policy. However the Board may 
determine to apply disposal restrictions to those Shares on a case by case 
basis at the time of granting Options

Non-executive Directors’ Remuneration
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands and responsibilities of their role.  
Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the RNC. The RNC may, from time 
to time, receive advice from independent remuneration consultants to ensure non-executive directors’ 
fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. The chairman’s fees are determined 
independently to the fees of other non-executive directors based on comparative roles in the external 
market. The chairman is not present at any discussions relating to the determination of his own 
remuneration. Non-executive directors do not receive share options or other incentives.

ASX listing rules require the aggregate non-executive directors’ remuneration be determined periodically 
by a general meeting. Initially, and until a different amount is determined, the maximum aggregate  
non-executive directors’ remuneration is $750,000 per annum. The next annual general meeting is 
scheduled for 14 November 2018.

The annual non-executive directors’ remuneration currently agreed to be paid by the Group are  
$175,000 to the Chairman of the Board and $100,000 to each of the other non-executive directors.  
In addition, the following annual fees are payable to non-executive directors who are members of the 
following committees:

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

Chairman fee $15,000

Member fee $7,500

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Chairman fee $15,000

Member fee $7,500

SUMMARY OF REMUNERATION MIX
The FY18 remuneration mix for the KMP, assuming achievement of all performance based criteria,  
is set out in the following table.

NAME FIXED STI LTI TOTAL

Non-executive directors:

Patrick Elliott 100% – – 100%

Peter Clare 100% – – 100%

Katrina Onishi 100% – – 100%

Andrew Love 100% – – 100%
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NAME FIXED STI LTI TOTAL

Senior executives:

Peter Langham 50% 20% 30% 100%

David Rose (annualised) 50% 20% 30% 100%

Chris Hedge (annualised) 50% 20% 30% 100%

Steven Davies 62% 19% 19% 100%

SERVICE AGREEMENTS
All non-executive directors and senior executives are party to a written executive service agreement  
with the Company.

Key terms of executive service agreements for senior executives:

Fixed remuneration 
for FY18

Peter Langham – $451,268 per annum base salary including superannuation

David Rose – $350,000 per annum base salary including 
superannuation (annualised)

Steven Davies – $282,379 per annum base salary including superannuation

Chris Hedge – $325,378 per annum base salary including 
superannuation (annualised)

Periods of notice There is a six month period required to terminate the employment contracts 
of Peter Langham, David Rose, Chris Hedge and Steven Davies.

Termination 
payments

No provision is made in the contracts for termination payments other than 
amounts paid in respect of notice of termination.

DETAILS OF REMUNERATION
Amounts of Remuneration
Details of the remuneration of KMP of the Group are set out in the following tables.

SHORT-TERM BENEFITS

POST-
EMPLOY- 

MENT 
BENEFITS

LONG-
TERM 

BENEFITS

SHARE-
BASED 

PAY-
MENTS*

2018

CASH 
SALARY 

AND FEES 
$

CASH 
BONUS 

$

OTHER 
BENEFITS 

$

SUPER-
ANNUA-

TION 
$

LONG 
SERVICE 

LEAVE 
$

EQUITY-
SETTLED 

$
TOTAL 

$

Non-executive 
directors:

Patrick Elliott 197,500 – – – – – 197,500

Peter Clare 107,500 – – 10,213 – – 117,713

Katrina Onishi 107,500 – – 10,213 – – 117,713

Andrew Love 115,000 – – 10,925 – – 125,925
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SHORT-TERM BENEFITS

POST-
EMPLOY- 

MENT 
BENEFITS

LONG-
TERM 

BENEFITS

SHARE-
BASED 

PAY-
MENTS*

2018

CASH 
SALARY 

AND FEES 
$

CASH 
BONUS 

$

OTHER 
BENEFITS 

$

SUPER-
ANNUA-

TION 
$

LONG 
SERVICE 

LEAVE 
$

EQUITY-
SETTLED 

$
TOTAL 

$

Senior executives:

Peter Langham 431,219 – – 20,049 7,187 108,925 567,380

David Rose** 201,778 – – 19,169 3,388 26,351 250,686

Chris Hedge** 133,875 – – 12,718 2,120 78,304 227,017

Steven Davies 253,756 – 19,231 28,623 4,305 35,568 341,483

1,548,128 – 19,231 111,910 17,000 249,148 1,945,417

* This represents the value recognised in reserves in FY18 for the Options granted to senior executives.
** The benefits to David Rose and Chris Hedge are for the period they were members of the KMP in FY18.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Movement in Shares Held by KMP
The following table sets out the movement in the number of shares held by KMP in FY18

NAME
OPENING 
BALANCE

FROM 
OPTIONS 

EXERCISED

SHARES 
PUR-

CHASED
SHARES 

SOLD
CLOSING 

BALANCE

Non-executive directors

Patrick Elliott 23,800,121 – 225,000 23,128,226 896,895

Peter Clare 249,300 – – – 249,300

Katrina Onishi 40,000 – – – 40,000

Andrew Love 66,250 – – – 66,250

Senior executives

Peter Langham 3,535,109 – 96,857 – 3,631,966

Chris Hedge 571,000 – – – 571,000

Steven Davies 18,500 – 76,900 – 95,400

Options
The terms and conditions of each grant of options over ordinary shares affecting remuneration of KMP  
in this financial year or future reporting years are as follows:

GRANT DATE VESTING DATE EXPIRY DATE
EXERCISE 

PRICE

FAIR 
VALUE PER 
OPTION AT 

GRANT 
DATE

FY 2018 LTI grants

13-Oct-2017 30 September 2020 30 June 2023 $2.80 $0.54

13-Oct-2017 30 September 2021 30 June 2023 $2.80 $0.53

13-Oct-2017 30 September 2022 30 June 2023 $2.80 $0.51
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The following table sets out the movement in options (from the LTI scheme) held by senior executives 
in FY18.

NAME
OPENING 
BALANCE GRANTED

VALUE 
GRANTED VESTED FORFEITED

CLOSING 
BALANCE

Senior executives

Peter Langham 456,081 528,859 $270,000 – – 984,940

David Rose – 258,070 $131,753 – – 258,070

Chris Hedge 329,391 381,953 $195,000 – 239,472 471,872

Steven Davies 155,830 180,660 $92,233 – – 336,490

No options were granted to non-executive directors in FY18.

Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights.

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
During the financial year, the Group paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of  
the Group (as named above), the company secretaries, and all executive officers of the Group against 
a liability incurred as such a director, secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the 
Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability  
and the amount of the premium.

The Group has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent  
permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer of the Group against a liability  
incurred as such an officer.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF AUDITOR
During or since the end of the financial year the Group has not indemnified or made a relevant  
agreement to indemnify the auditor of the Group against a liability incurred as the auditor. In addition,  
the Group has not paid, or agreed to pay, a premium in respect of a contract insuring against a liability 
incurred the by auditor.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is 
a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of 
those proceedings.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
There were no non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financials/Directors’ Reports) 
Instrument 2016/191, dated 24 March 2016, and consequently the amounts in the directors’ report and  
the financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise stated.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the  
Corporations Act 2001 is set out immediately after this directors’ report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of Scottish Pacific Group Limited  
(Scottish Pacific or the Company), including adopting appropriate policies and procedures designed  
to ensure that Scottish Pacific is properly managed to protect and enhance Shareholder interests.

The Board is committed to implementing the highest possible standards of corporate governance and 
maximising performance, generating appropriate levels of Shareholder value and financial return, and 
sustaining the growth and success of the Company. In conducting the business with these objectives,  
the Board seeks to ensure that the Company is properly managed to protect and enhance Shareholder 
interests, and that the Company, its Directors, officers and personnel, operate in an appropriate 
environment of corporate governance. The Board believes that sound governance is fundamental to  
the ongoing success and growth of the Company in the markets in which it participates.

Accordingly, the Board has created a framework for managing the Company, including adopting  
relevant internal controls, risk management processes and corporate governance policies and practices 
which it believes are appropriate for the Company’s business, and which are designed to promote the 
responsible management and conduct of the Company.

Details of Scottish Pacific’s key governance policies and the charters for the Board and each of its 
committees are available on Scottish Pacific’s website under “Investors – Corporate Governance” at 
https://investors.scottishpacific.com/investors/.

The Board has approved a Corporate Governance Statement which reports against the 3rd edition  
of the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles and Recommendations (ASX Principles) and the 
practices detailed in the Corporate Governance Statement are current as at 31 July 2018. It is available  
on the Scottish Pacific website under “Investors – Corporate Governance” at 
https://investors.scottishpacific.com/investors/.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

 

 

Patrick Elliott Peter Langham
Chairman and Non-Executive Director CEO and Executive Director

28 August 2018
Sydney
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 

 

 

 

 

28 August 2018 
 
 
Dear Board Members 

 
Scottish Pacific Group Limited 

 
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the 
following declaration of independence to the directors of Scottish Pacific Group Limited. 
 
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Scottish Pacific Group Limited for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
there have been no contraventions of: 
 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the 
audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   
 
 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
 
Heather Baister 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants 

The Board of Directors 
Scottish Pacific Group Limited 
Level 5, 20 Bond Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000  
 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
A.B.N. 74 490 121 060 
 
Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
PO Box N250 Grosvenor Place 
Sydney NSW 1220 Australia 
 
DX 10307SSE 
Tel:  +61 (0) 2 9322 7000 
Fax:  +61 (0) 2 9322 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
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Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION
The financial statements are for the consolidated group consisting of Scottish Pacific Group Limited  
and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the financial year ended 30 June 2018. The financial 
statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.

The Group’s ordinary shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX).  
The ASX ticker code is SCO.

The Company is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal place of 
business is:

Level 5, 20 Bond Street
Sydney NSW 2000

A description of the nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are included in the 
directors’ report, which is not part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors,  
on 28 August 2018. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
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Statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2018

CONSOLIDATED

NOTE
2018 

$’000
2017 

$’000

Revenue

Fee income 69,901 68,116

Interest income 78,921 67,878

Interest expense (40,214) (35,694)

38,707 32,184

Net revenue 108,608 100,300

Expenses

Employee benefits expense (37,769) (33,793)

Office & administration expense (16,422) (14,691)

Professional fees (1,318) (11,418)

Bad & doubtful debts expense 102 (1,061)

Depreciation & amortisation expense (6,676) (6,572)

Operating profit 46,525 32,765

Borrowing expense (5,189) (5,256)

Profit before income tax expense 41,336 27,509

Income tax expense 4 (8,005) (7,067)

Profit after income tax expense for the year attributable  
to the owners of Scottish Pacific Group Limited 33,331 20,442

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Foreign currency translation 392 (285)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 392 (285)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable  
to the owners of Scottish Pacific Group Limited 33,723 20,157

CENTS CENTS

Basic earnings per share 27 23.95 14.79

Diluted earnings per share 27 23.91 14.79

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes
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Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2018

CONSOLIDATED

NOTE
2018 

$’000
2017 

$’000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14,224 21,833

Restricted cash 5 122,826 146,648

Client receivables 6 1,018,628 830,057

Other receivables 7 2,471 3,074

Deferred tax 4 7,926 8,522

Property, plant and equipment 1,279 1,785

Intangibles 8 3,975 8,614

Goodwill 9 148,587 148,587

Total assets 1,319,916 1,169,120

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 10,513 10,299

Current tax payables 4 492 (1,827)

Provisions 11 4,931 4,360

Debt facilities 1,042,049 904,415

Borrowings 12 55,315 55,079

Total liabilities 1,113,300 972,326

Net assets 206,616 196,794

Equity

Issued capital 13 206,959 206,959

Reserves 14 1,677 826

Accumulated losses (2,020) (10,991)

Total equity 206,616 196,794

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2018

CONSOLIDATED

SHARE 
CAPITAL 

$’000

FOREIGN 
CURRENCY 

TRANS-
LATION 

RESERVE 
$’000

SHARE-
BASED 

PAYMENTS 
RESERVE 

$’000

RETAINED 
PROFITS 

$’000

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2016 146,118 890 108 16,030 163,146

Profit after income tax expense 
for the year – – – 20,442 20,442

Other comprehensive income 
for the year, net of tax – (285) – – (285)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – (285) – 20,442 20,157

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs (note 13) 60,842 – – – 60,842

Share-based payments – – 112 – 112

Dividends paid (note 15) – – – (47,463) (47,463)

Balance at 30 June 2017 206,960 605 220 (10,991) 196,794

CONSOLIDATED

SHARE 
CAPITAL 

$’000

FOREIGN 
CURRENCY 

TRANS-
LATION 

RESERVE 
$’000

SHARE-
BASED 

PAYMENTS 
RESERVE 

$’000

RETAINED 
PROFITS 

$’000

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2017 206,960 605 220 (10,991) 196,794

Profit after income tax expense 
for the year – – – 33,331 33,331

Other comprehensive income 
for the year, net of tax – 392 – – 392

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – 392 – 33,331 33,723

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Share-based payments – – 458 – 458

Dividends paid (note 15) – – – (24,359) (24,359)

Balance at 30 June 2018 206,960 997 679 (2,019) 206,616

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2018

CONSOLIDATED

NOTE
2018 

$’000
2017 

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 108,438 100,670

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (55,890) (73,575)

52,548 27,095

Interest and other finance costs paid on borrowings 
(corporate debt) (3,961) (4,027)

Security deposit paid 126 4,117

Income taxes paid (5,090) (9,032)

Net cash from operating activities 25 43,623 18,153

Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for purchase of subsidiary, net of cash acquired – (764)

Proceeds from/(payments to) client receivables (187,649) (81,744)

Payments for property, plant and equipment (324) (428)

Net cash used in investing activities (187,973) (82,936)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares – 58,954

Proceeds from/(payments of) lease financing (227) (227)

Repayment of loan on acquisition of subsidiary – (1,414)

Proceeds from/(Repayment of) securitised debt 161,327 70,654

Repayment of corporate borrowings – (10,000)

Dividends paid (24,359) (47,463)

Net cash from financing activities 136,741 70,504

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (7,609) 5,721

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 21,833 16,112

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 14,224 21,833

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2018

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION
For the year ended 30 June 2018, Scottish Pacific Group Limited (the Company or Parent entity) and  
the entities it controlled (the Group) prepared general purpose financial statements in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board and the Corporations Act 2001.

Historical Cost Convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 2.

COMPLIANCE WITH IFRS
For the year ended 30 June 2018 the financial statements of the Group also comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB).

ROUNDING
The Group is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financials/Directors’ 
Reports) Instrument 2016/191, dated 24 March 2016, and in accordance with that Corporations Instrument 
amounts in the directors’ report and the financial statements are rounded off to the nearest thousand 
dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, the financial statements present the results of the  
Group only. Supplementary information about the Parent entity is disclosed in Note 20.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the  
Parent entity as at 30 June 2018 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. The Parent 
entity and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the Group.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when  
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from 
the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the  
Group are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence  
of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed  
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.

FUNDING PROCESS AND CONSOLIDATION OF SPECIAL PURPOSE VEHICLES
The majority of funding for the Group’s debtor finance and other products is provided through the use of 
securitisation structures, with the balance funded from The Group’s Balance Sheet. The Group’s funding 
vehicle funding process is set out below:

1 Receivables  
book assigned 
to the Group

Scottish Pacific’s client agrees to assign receivables, which are sales invoices 
issued by the client, to the Group (Receivables). In return, the Group agrees to 
advance the client a portion of the face value of the Receivables (this amount 
is disclosed as client receivables on the statement of financial position 
(refer to note 6)).
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NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2 Receivables sold 
to Funding 
Vehicle

The Group in turn assigns the Receivables to a special purpose vehicle 
(Funding Vehicle). Provided the Receivables meet the relevant lending criteria 
for the Funding Vehicle, it will provide the Group the client receivable amount.

3 Funding Vehicle 
draws down on 
funding sources

The Funding Vehicle draws down on its funding sources to fund the client 
receivable amount, typically as follows:

• Senior Facilities: Senior secured debt instruments funded by bank lenders 
– these typically provide up to 90% of the client receivables amount.

• Junior notes are issued to a separate special purpose vehicle  
(Mezzanine Vehicle) or to the Group:

– Mezzanine Facility: A facility that may provide up to 50% of the 
remaining funding requirement. The Mezzanine Facility is subordinated 
to the Senior Facilities and is only repaid after the Senior Facilities.

– The Group contributes the remaining funds required (typically 5% – 10% 
of the client receivables amount) from its equity or operating cash, 
typically by purchasing junior notes issued by the Mezzanine Vehicle. 
Funds that the Group contributes are subordinated to the Senior Notes 
and the Mezzanine Facility.

The sum of the loans from the Senior Facilities and the Mezzanine Facility is 
disclosed as debt facilities on the statement of financial position. These loans 
are asset backed by the Receivables and are non-recourse to the Group.

4 Debtor repays 
invoice to 
Funding Vehicle

When the debtor pays their invoices this money flows through the facilities. 
The Senior Facilities are repaid first, followed by the Mezzanine Facility with 
the Group receiving the residual income. Once the client receivables amount, 
interest and fees have been fully paid, all remaining funds are paid to the 
client. This amount is referred to as the client control amount (refer to credit 
risk in note 16).

The Funding Vehicles and Mezzanine Vehicle are entities over which the Group has control as the  
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Accordingly, the 
Funding Vehicles and Mezzanine Vehicle are fully consolidated.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Scottish Pacific Group Limited’s 
functional and presentation currency.

Foreign Currency Transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing  
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of  
such transactions and from the translation at financial year end exchange rates of monetary assets  
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign Operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange 
rates at the reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian 
dollars using the average exchange rates, which approximate the rates at the dates of the transactions,  
for the period. All resulting foreign exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 
through the foreign currency reserve in equity.

The foreign currency translation reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the foreign operation or net 
investment is disposed of.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

30 June 2018

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable.

Interest Income
Interest income earned on client receivables is recognised on an accruals basis using the effective interest 
method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest 
income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount 
of the financial asset. The effective interest rate is determined taking into account commissions paid to 
brokers and any other contractual amounts that affect estimated future cash receipts, but not future 
credit losses, and all other premiums or discounts.

Interest income from cash deposits is recognised as it accrues in the statement of comprehensive income, 
using the effective interest method.

Fee Income
Fee income includes administration fees, expense recoveries from clients and other sundry income. 
Administration fees cover the cost of assessing and processing factoring applications as well as 
administrative fees charged to clients for the provision of collateral securing their facilities.

Fee income is recognised in the period in which it is earned. Administration fees relating to the cost of 
assessing and processing factoring facility applications for new borrowers are recognised upon granting 
of the facility. To the extent that these fees represent a recovery of cost or a charge for services, they are 
recognised when charged to the client.

INCOME TAX
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit 
or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity 
or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using  
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous periods.

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax  
is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and associates and jointly controlled entities  
to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred 
tax is not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which  
they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Tax Consolidation
The Company is the head entity of the tax consolidated group comprising all the Australian wholly  
owned subsidiaries. Current tax expense (or income), deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 
arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax consolidated group are recognised in the 
separate financial statements of the members of the tax consolidated group using a ‘stand-alone basis 
without adjusting for intercompany transactions approach’ by reference to the carrying amounts of  
assets and liabilities in the separate financial statements of each entity and the tax values applying under 
consolidation. Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses 
of the subsidiaries is assumed by the head entity in the tax consolidated group and are recognised as 
amounts payable/(receivable) to/(from) other entities in the tax consolidated group in conjunction with 
any tax funding arrangement amounts. Any difference between these amounts is recognised by the head 
entity as an equity contribution or distribution. The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from 
unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
of the tax-consolidated group will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Any subsequent 
period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised 
assessments of the probability of recoverability is recognised by the head entity only.

Nature of Tax Funding Arrangements and Tax Sharing Arrangements
The head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax consolidated group, has entered into a tax 
funding arrangement which sets out the funding obligations of members of the tax consolidated group in 
respect of tax amounts. The tax funding arrangements require payments to/from the head entity equal to 
the current tax liability/(asset) assumed by the head entity and any tax-loss deferred tax asset assumed 
by the head entity, resulting in the head entity recognising an inter-entity receivable (payable) equal in 
amount to the tax liability (asset) assumed. The inter-entity receivables (payables) are at call. Contributions 
to fund the current tax liabilities are payable as per the tax funding arrangement and reflect the timing  
of the head entity’s obligation to make payments for tax liabilities to the relevant tax authorities. The 
contribution amount arising under the tax funding arrangement is charged to the Company through  
the intercompany account.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and at call deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less. Cash that is restricted for certain purposes is separately recognised as restricted cash.

CLIENT RECEIVABLES
Client receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition client receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Client receivables comprise loans made to clients, which are secured on trade and other receivables 
including factored receivables. Factored receivables represent invoices and debit notes secured over 
other assets assigned to the Group by factoring clients. These are generally settled within three months. 
The carrying amount of client receivables approximates fair value.

The Group’s secured client receivables are securitised and funded via one of the following trusts:

1. Scottish Pacific Benchmark – Master Trust

2. Scottish Pacific New Zealand Trust

3. Scottish Pacific (BFS) Warehouse Trust 2016

4. Scottish Pacific (Paringa) Warehouse Trust 2016

5. Scottish Pacific (Mezzanine) Funding Trust 2016

The Group and the Company continue to be exposed to risks and benefits of the client receivables  
and accordingly these continue to be recognised in their own financial statements.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

30 June 2018

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Client receivables are assessed for impairment individually and on a collective basis, and are considered 
impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the receivable, the estimated future cash flows of the receivable has been affected. 
Objective evidence of impairment over a portfolio of client receivables could include the Group’s past 
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past 
the average credit period of 90 days, as well as observable changes in national or local economic 
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

Client receivables are reduced through the use of an allowance (provision for impairment) account. 
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account is recognised in profit or loss. When a client 
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. If there are 
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off, the recovery is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a receivable when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset  
expire, or when it transfers the receivable and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of  
the asset to another party.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured  
at their fair value at the date of the acquisition. Finite life intangible assets are subsequently measured  
at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets 
are reviewed annually. Changes in the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for 
prospectively by changing the amortisation method or period.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of the 
acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill is allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-generating units) 
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Customer Relationships
Customer relationships arising on an acquisition of a business are initially measured at their fair value at 
the date of the acquisition. Customer relationships have finite useful lives and are subsequently measured 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, if any. Customer relationships are amortised 
on a straight line basis over the period of their expected benefit.

Software
Significant costs associated with the development of software are deferred and amortised on a straight-
line basis over the period of their expected benefit, generally being their finite life.

IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Impairment of intangible assets is tested on an annual basis for goodwill and indefinite life assets,  
or more frequently when indicators of potential impairment are identified for finite life intangibles.

Goodwill is assessed for impairment at the cash-generating unit level. Identified intangible assets are 
tested for impairment at the asset level. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be 
tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash generating 
units (CGUs).

Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets 
on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the assets carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Finite life intangibles while amortised over their expected life are tested annually for indicators of 
impairment and where an indicator does exist the finite life intangible is tested for impairment.
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NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost 
and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

DEBT FACILITIES AND BORROWINGS
Debt facilities are limited-recourse secured debt facilities obtained by the Group for the purpose of 
funding its client receivables and growth in new products. Borrowings are revolving corporate debt 
facilities used to fund a range of general corporate expenses.

Debt facilities and borrowings are both initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net 
of transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

FINANCE COSTS
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset.

Interest is recognised in the profit and loss using the effective interest rate method. Interest costs on debt 
facilities is recognised as interest expense in the profit or loss. Interest costs on borrowings is recognised 
as borrowing expense in the profit or loss.

PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of 
a past event, it is probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of  
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the 
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from 
the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Short-term Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as  
the related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing 
plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past 
service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Other Long-term Employee Benefits
The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods plus related on-costs. 
That benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is 
deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on Government and high quality corporate 
bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations and that are 
denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid.

Share-based Payments
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured  
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees 
in exchange for the rendering of services.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is 
independently determined using the Binomial option pricing model that takes into account the exercise 
price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price 
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term  
of the option, the probability of vesting together with non-vesting conditions that determine whether the 
Group receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any 
other vesting conditions.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

30 June 2018

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity over the vesting period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant 
date fair value of the award, the best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the 
expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit or loss for the period is the 
cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in 
previous periods.

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject  
to market conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been 
met, provided all other conditions are satisfied.

ISSUED CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as 
a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

DIVIDENDS
Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year and no longer at the discretion of 
the Company.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred 
in a business combination is measured at fair value which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date 
fair values of assets transferred to the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of  
the acquiree and the equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. 
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at  
their fair value, except that:

• Deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements  
are recognised and measured in accordance with AASB 112 ‘Income Taxes’ and AASB 119 ‘Employee 
Benefits’ respectively; and

• Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquirer or 
share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment 
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with AASB 2 ‘Share-based Payment’  
at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of 
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest  
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of the Group, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares 
issued during the financial year.

Diluted Earnings Per Share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to 
take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for  
no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET MANDATORY  
OR EARLY ADOPTED
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but  
are not yet mandatory, have not been early adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 
30 June 2018. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards  
and Interpretations, most relevant to the Group, are set out below.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.  
The standard replaces all previous versions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS 39 
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. AASB 9 introduces new classification and 
measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost, if it  
is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash  
flows, which arise on specified dates and are solely principal and interest. All financial instrument assets 
are to be classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if they are held in 
a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and held for 
sale, which arise on specified dates and are solely principal and interest. All other financial instrument 
assets are to be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity makes an 
irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not 
held-for-trading) in other comprehensive income (OCI). For financial liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss, the standard requires the portion of the change in fair value that relates to the 
entity’s own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an accounting mismatch). New 
simpler hedge accounting requirements are intended to more closely align the accounting treatment  
with the risk management activities of the entity. New impairment requirements will use an ‘expected 
credit loss’ (ECL) model to recognise an allowance. Impairment will be measured under a 12-month ECL 
method unless the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition 
in which case the lifetime ECL method is adopted. The standard introduces additional new disclosures.

The Group will adopt this standard for the financial year ending 30 June 2019. The Group currently 
models its collective provision for impairment of client receivables based on 10 years of historical loss 
data. The Group has analysed the impact of AASB 9 on our financial results for the year ending 30 June 
2018 and has estimated the impact to be a marginal increase to our collective provision for impairment  
of client receivables. The financial impact from the adoption of AASB 9’s new classification changes has 
currently been determined to be immaterial.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard 
provides a single standard for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity  
will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services. The standard will require: contracts (either written, verbal or implied) to be identified, together 
with the separate performance obligations within the contract; determine the transaction price, adjusted 
for the time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation of the transaction price to the separate 
performance obligations on a basis of relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service,  
or estimation approach if no distinct observable prices exist; and recognition of revenue when each 
performance obligation is satisfied. For goods, the performance obligation would be satisfied when the 
customer obtains control of the goods. For services, the performance obligation is satisfied when the 
service has been provided, typically for promises to transfer services to customers. For performance 
obligations satisfied over time, an entity would select an appropriate measure of progress to determine 
how much revenue should be recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied. Contracts with 
customers will be presented in an entity’s statement of financial position as a contract liability, a contract 
asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship between the entity’s performance and the customer’s 
payment. Sufficient quantitative and qualitative disclosure is required to enable users to understand the 
contracts with customers; the significant judgements made in applying the guidance to those contracts; 
and any assets recognised from the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

30 June 2018

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The Group will adopt this standard for the financial year ending 30 June 2019. The Group has analysed the 
impact of AASB 15 on our financial results for the year ending 30 June 2018 and has currently determined 
the impact to be immaterial.

AASB 16 Leases
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard 
replaces AASB 117 ‘Leases’ and for lessees will eliminate the classifications of operating leases and finance 
leases. Subject to exceptions, a ‘right-of-use’ asset will be the amount of initial measurement of the lease 
liability, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives 
received, any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and an estimate of costs to be incurred by the 
lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or 
restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease.  
The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets  
(such as personal computers and small office furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists  
whereby either a ‘right-of-use’ asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to profit or loss as 
incurred. A liability will be recognised in the statement of financial position, measured as the fixed 
payments, less any lease incentive receivables, the variable lease payments, the amounts expected to be 
payable by the lessees under residual value guarantees, the exercise price of a purchase option and the 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition will be 
replaced with a depreciation charge for the leased asset (included in operating costs) and an interest 
expense on the recognised lease liability (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the 
expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under 
AASB 117. However EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) results will  
be improved as the operating expense is replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss 
under AASB 16. For classification within the statement of cash flows, the lease payments will be separated 
into both a principal (financing activities) and interest (either operating or financing activities) component. 
For lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases.  
The impact from the adoption of AASB 16 will be recognition of right of use assets in relation to the 
premises currently leased by the Group. The financial impact is yet to be assessed by the Group.

Other recently issued or amended Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations are considered 
less relevant or are not applicable to the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2018.

NOTE 2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually 
evaluates its judgements and estimates impacting financial results. Management bases its judgements, 
estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations 
of future events management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting 
accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results.

Provision for Impairment of Client Receivables
The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. 
The level of collective and specific provision for impairment is assessed by taking into account the recent 
sales experience, the ageing of receivables, historical collection rates and specific knowledge of the 
individual debtor’s financial position. For further information on credit risk, refer to note 16.

Goodwill
Measuring the recoverable amount of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life such as goodwill 
may be done using two methods; fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Management has 
applied the higher of fair value and value in use calculations to determine whether the Group’s goodwill  
is impaired. These calculations require significant assumptions to be made by management and are done 
at the CGU level. We calculate the recoverable amount of each CGU and compare it to the net assets, 
including goodwill, of the CGU.

The carrying amount of goodwill at 30 June 2018 was $148.6 million (FY17: $148.6 million). No impairment 
loss was recognised during the financial year (FY17: nil).
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NOTE 3. OPERATING SEGMENTS
IDENTIFICATION OF REPORTABLE OPERATING SEGMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2017 the Group was organised into two operating segments:

1. Debtor financing provided to clients through a range of products including factoring, invoice 
discounting and other specialised products. Products within this segment are funded through the  
four limited-recourse funding vehicles of the Group.

2. Trade financing provided to clients through a range of products including import and export  
finance, and Tradeline products. The number of these products are not funded through the Group’s 
limited-recourse funding vehicles.

For the year ended 30 June 2018, the Group changed the structure of its internal organisation, causing 
the composition of its reportable segments to change as follows:

1. Debtor financing provided to clients through a range of products including factoring and invoice 
discounting. Products within this segment are funded through the four limited-recourse funding 
vehicles of the Group.

2. Specialised products provided to clients including Bad Debt Protection, Asset Backed Lending, 
Progress Claim Finance, Selective Invoice Finance, and cross-border transactions through Tradeline 
and Import/Export Finance. Products within this segment are funded through a combination of the 
four limited-recourse funding vehicles of the Group and from the Group’s Balance Sheet.

The corresponding items of segment information for comparative periods have been presented under  
the updated reportable operating segments.

The updated reportable operating segments are based on the internal reports that are reviewed and  
used by the CEO Peter Langham (who is identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) in 
assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources). The CODM reviews profit before 
tax. The accounting policies adopted for internal reporting to the CODM are consistent with those 
adopted in the financial statements. The information reported to the CODM is on a monthly basis.  
There is no aggregation of operating segments.

GEOGRAPHIC AND CUSTOMER SEGMENTS
Revenues from overseas operations are not material to the Group nor does the Group have a material 
credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors.
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30 June 2018

NOTE 3. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED – 2018

DEBTOR 
FINANCE 

$’000

SPECIALISED 
FINANCE 

$’000
TOTAL 
$’000

Revenue

Management fees 58,817 11,084 69,901

Net Interest Income 38,322 385 38,707

Total revenue 97,139 11,469 108,608

EBITDA 97,139 11,469 108,608

Employee benefits expense (33,300) (4,469) (37,769)

Office and administration expense (14,500) (1,922) (16,422)

Professional fees (1,121) (197) (1,318)

Bad and doubtful debts expense 162 (60) 102

Depreciation and amortisation (6,655) (21) (6,676)

Borrowing costs (5,189) – (5,189)

Profit before income tax expense 36,536 4,800 41,336

Income tax expense (8,005)

Profit after income tax expense 33,331

Assets

Segment assets 1,295,704 24,212 1,319,916

Total assets 1,319,916

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 1,102,742 10,558 1,113,300

Total liabilities 1,113,300
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NOTE 3. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED – 2017

DEBTOR 
FINANCE 

$’000

SPECIALISED 
FINANCE 

$’000
TOTAL 
$’000

Revenue

Management fees 58,072 10,044 68,116

Net Interest Income 32,208 (24) 32,184

Total revenue 90,280 10,020 100,300

EBITDA 90,280 10,020 100,300

Employee benefits expense (30,098) (3,695) (33,793)

Office and administration expense (13,089) (1,602) (14,691)

Professional fees (11,418) – (11,418)

Bad and doubtful debts expense (581) (480) (1,061)

Depreciation and amortisation (6,538) (34) (6,572)

Borrowing costs (5,256) – (5,256)

Profit before income tax expense 23,300 4,209 27,509

Income tax expense (7,067)

Profit after income tax expense 20,442

Assets

Segment assets 1,150,561 18,559 1,169,120

Total assets 1,169,120

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 961,660 10,666 972,326

Total liabilities 972,326
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30 June 2018

NOTE 4. INCOME TAX

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Income tax expense

Current tax 10,715 7,343

Deferred tax – origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,766 1,103

Adjustment for prior period (4,476) (1,379)

Aggregate income tax expense 8,005 7,067

Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:

Decrease in deferred tax assets 1,766 1,103

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate

Profit before income tax expense 41,336 27,509

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30% 12,401 8,253

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable 
income:

 Entertainment expenses 176 193

 Penalties and fines 5 –

 Difference in overseas tax rates (101) –

 Adjustment for prior period (4,476) (1,379)

Income tax expense 8,005 7,067

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Amounts credited directly to equity

Deferred tax assets – (1,887)
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NOTE 4. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable to:

 Impairment of client receivables 1,178 1,454

 Provisions 1,602 1,582

 Accrued expenses 1,358 1,131

 IPO and other capital costs 3,957 5,927

 Borrowing costs 580 1,014

 Deferred revenue and expense 95 –

 Intangible client relationships (844) (2,586)

Deferred tax asset 7,926 8,522

Movements:

Opening balance 8,522 5,356

Charged to profit or loss (1,766) (1,103)

Credited to equity – 1,887

Prior year adjustment (570) 642

Deferred tax liability on intangible client relationships 1,740 1,740

Closing balance 7,926 8,522

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Provision for income tax

Provision for income tax 492 (1,827)

NOTE 5. RESTRICTED CASH

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Trust cash 122,498 146,193

Security deposits held against bank guarantees 328 455

122,826 146,648

Trust cash represents funds held in the name of the trustee used for the operation of the securitised 
funding vehicle. These funds may only be utilised by the trustee of the securitised funding vehicle.
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30 June 2018

NOTE 6. CLIENT RECEIVABLES

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Client receivables 1,022,556 834,907

Less: Provision for impairment of client receivables (3,928) (4,850)

1,018,628 830,057

Movements in provision for impairment of client receivables:

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Collective provision 
Opening balance – collective provision 3,073 2,456

Additional collective provision recognised 6 617

Specific provision 
Opening balance – specific provision 1,777 2,853

Additional specific provision recognised 683 1,299

Write offs (617) (1,520)

Unused provisions released (994) (855)

3,928 4,850

The collective provision rate has been adjusted in FY18 to reflect actual loss history experienced by the 
Group over the last 10 years.

NOTE 7. OTHER RECEIVABLES

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Other receivables 1,858 2,603

Prepayments 613 471

2,471 3,074
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NOTE 8. INTANGIBLES
Client relationship intangible assets are amortised using the straight line method over a 3 year period.  
This is management’s estimate of customer retention periods based on historical information. Software 
intangible assets capitalised as of 30 June 2018 will be ready for use in the second half of FY19.

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Client relationships – at cost 16,527 16,527

Less: Accumulated amortisation (13,714) (7,913)

2,813 8,614

Software – at cost 1,162 –

3,975 8,614

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial 
year are set out below:

CONSOLIDATED

CLIENT 
RELATION-

SHIPS 
$’000

TOTAL 
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2016 14,416 14,416

Amortisation expense (5,802) (5,802)

Balance at 30 June 2017 8,614 8,614

Amortisation expense (5,801) (5,801)

Balance at 30 June 2018 2,813 2,813

NOTE 9. GOODWILL

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Goodwill 148,587 148,587

The Group is comprised of two cash-generating units (CGU), being debtor finance and specialised 
finance. All major acquisitions are related to debtor finance and the related goodwill from these 
acquisitions have been allocated to the debtor finance segment. The remainder goodwill balance of 
$282,000 is allocated to the specialised finance CGU.

The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined based on a fair value model. These calculations 
are applied at the CGU level and require key assumptions to be made by management including:

• Discount rate (15%)

• Projected revenue growth rates (debtor finance: 10.9%, specialised finance: 22.7%)

• Terminal growth rate (4.5%)

• Forecast period (debtor finance: 5 years, specialised finance: 10 years)

Management estimate that reasonable changes to the discount rate (+/– 2%) and terminal growth rate 
(+/– 1%) will not result in the recoverable amount of the CGUs falling below the equity value of the CGUs.
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30 June 2018

NOTE 10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Trade payables – debtor finance 87 244

Trade payables – trade finance 2,910 2,179

General accruals 2,318 2,201

Lease incentive payable 289 576

Other payables 4,909 5,099

10,513 10,299

Refer to note 16 for further information on financial instruments.

NOTE 11. PROVISIONS

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Provision for annual leave 2,085 1,830

Provision for long service leave 1,638 1,443

Provision for make good 836 588

Provision for onerous leases 372 499

4,931 4,360

NOTE 12. BORROWINGS

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Loan facility 55,126 54,662

Secured loan 189 417

55,315 55,079

Refer to note 16 for further information on financial instruments.

The loan facility is secured against the Group’s property, including cash, and the Group’s residual interest 
in the funding vehicles.

The secured loan is secured against IT equipment assets under a chattel mortgage.
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NOTE 13. ISSUED CAPITAL

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
SHARES

2017 
SHARES

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Ordinary shares – fully paid 139,191,601 139,191,601 206,959 206,959

MOVEMENTS IN ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL

DETAILS DATE SHARES $’000

Balance 1 July 2016 112,358,765 146,118

Issue of ordinary shares in IPO 13 July 2016 24,162,014 77,318

Issue of ordinary shares employee offer shares 13 July 2016 67,080 –

Issue of ordinary shares on exercise of LTI options 13 July 2016 2,603,742 –

Repurchase of LTI equity interests 13 July 2016 – (12,075)

Transaction costs net of tax benefit 13 July 2016 – (4,402)

Balance 30 June 2017 139,191,601 206,959

Balance 30 June 2018 139,191,601 206,959

ORDINARY SHARES
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the 
Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary 
shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital.

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and 
upon a poll each share shall have one vote.

NOTE 14. RESERVES

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Foreign currency translation reserve 998 606

Share-based payments reserve 679 220

1,677 826

NOTE 15. DIVIDENDS
DIVIDENDS
Dividends paid during the financial year were as follows:

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Final dividend paid on September 2017 (8.5 cents per ordinary share) 11,831 –

Interim dividend paid on 22 March 2018 (9.0 cents per ordinary share, 
2017: 8.0 cents per ordinary share) 12,527 11,135

24,358 11,135
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30 June 2018

NOTE 15. DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)
A final dividend of 10.0 cents per share (total of $13.9 million) franked to 100% at 30% corporate income 
tax rate payable to holders of ordinary shares in the Company was declared on 28 August 2018.

FRANKING CREDITS

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Franking credits available at the reporting date based on a tax rate of 30% 8,864 3,621

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years 
based on a tax rate of 30% 8,864 3,621

NOTE 16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, primarily credit risk, market risk and liquidity 
risk. The Group’s risk management program focuses on understanding drivers of financial risk and seeks 
to minimise potential adverse effects on financial performance of the Group. The Group does not enter 
into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 
framework through the work of the Audit and Risk Committee. The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible 
for developing and monitoring risk management policies. Risk management procedures are established by 
the Audit and Risk Committee and carried out by management to identify and analyse the risks faced by 
the Group and to set controls and monitor risks. These are discussed individually below.

MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of holdings 
in its financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. Market risk of the Group is 
concentrated in interest rate risk.

Factoring, invoice finance and trade finance are lent on variable interest rates and are financed by variable 
rate borrowings, which mitigate the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk. The interest payable under the 
majority of the senior facilities provided to the Funding Vehicles, the Mezzanine Facility and the Corporate 
Debt Facilities are linked to the Bank Bill Swap Bid Rate (“BBSY”) – a variable floating interest rate 
benchmark. The return on the products are sufficient to mitigate adverse interest rate movements 
on the borrowings.

The impact of potential increase/decrease in borrowing costs per annum in the event of a +/– 30bps 
change in variable interest rates would be immaterial to net profit before tax.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 
maintain the support of its investors and other business partners, support the future growth initiatives of 
the Group and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. These objectives are 
reviewed periodically by the Audit and Risk Committee. The Group is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements.

Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. 
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid  
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen 
as value adding relative to the current Company’s share price at the time of the investment. The Group is 
not actively pursuing additional investments in the short term as it continues to integrate and grow its 
existing businesses in order to maximise synergies.
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NOTE 16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The Group is subject to certain financing arrangements covenants and meeting these is given priority  
in all capital risk management decisions and is subject to monitoring and oversight by senior executives. 
There have been no events of default on the financing arrangements during the financial year.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign 
currency risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. Foreign exchange risk arises from future 
commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in a currency 
that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and cash flow 
forecasting. The Group’s revenues, expenses, cash flows, assets and liabilities in regions outside Australia 
are denominated in foreign currency including New Zealand Dollar, United States Dollar, Hong Kong Dollar 
and United Kingdom Pound Sterling. In general, the Group manages foreign exchange risk by funding 
exposure in the currency of that exposure. For example, purchase of USD receivables are funded by USD 
borrowings, thereby establishing a natural hedge. In order to protect against other specific exchange rate 
movements in the trade finance segment of the business, the Group has entered into foreign exchange 
forward contracts. These contracts are used to hedge highly probable forecasted cash flows. However, 
the amounts exposed to foreign currency risk at year end are not considered material for the Group.

The Group does not hedge its invested capital in overseas operations, considered immaterial, and accepts 
the foreign currency translation risk on this capital.

CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk is concentrated in client receivables.

The Group receives assignment from its clients of their receivables against which the Group pays a cash 
advance to the client. The Group’s primary source of security is the assignment of receivables to it from  
its clients. The Group has a strict code of credit, including obtaining agency credit information, confirming 
references and setting appropriate credit limits. The portfolio of receivables to which the Group is 
exposed is well diversified across industries and geographies.

Additionally, the Group is significantly over-collateralised, typically advancing less than 57 cents to clients 
for every dollar of client invoices assigned to the Group. In the case of default by an underlying debtor 
which fails to meet its payment obligations, the Group has full recourse to the client. Thus, the Group has 
protection from the underlying credit risk of the debtor, as well as recourse to clients.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any provisions for 
impairment, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value 
of any collateral or other security obtained. The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to 
any single debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments entered into by the Group. The Group 
obtains guarantees where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. Additionally, invoice finance, factoring assets 
and trade finance are secured by fixed and floating charges over business assets of each client. The Group 
retains its security until the loans are repaid. This minimises the Group’s credit risk exposure.

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Client receivables reconciliation *

Receivables 1,949,321 1,642,081

Client control amount (930,693) (812,024)

Client receivables 1,018,628 830,057

* Receivables: the total value of sales invoices which have been issued by clients, and which the clients have assigned 
to the Group. 
Client receivables: the total value the Group has advanced to its clients, based on a portion of the face value of the 
Receivables. 
Client control amount: when debtors pay their invoices and the client receivables amount, interest and fees have 
been fully repaid, all remaining funds are paid to the client. This amount is referred to as the client control amount.
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NOTE 16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Group has a supportive and diversified funding model underpinned by long standing relationships 
with major banks and currently comprises of a mix of warehouse facilities, mezzanine debt, corporate 
debt and balance sheet cash.

The Group has two forms of liquidity risk; operational liquidity risk and financing liquidity risk.

Operational Liquidity Risk
The Group manages operational liquidity risk by maintaining cash reserves and available borrowing 
facilities and by continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Group seeks to have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group’s risk management policies include cash flow forecasting, which is reviewed and monitored 
monthly by management as part of the Group’s budget and having access to funding through 
credit facilities.

Financing Liquidity Risk
The Group’s loans to clients (client receivables) are primarily funded through warehouse facilities. 
Financing (senior facilities) for three of the warehouse facilities are provided by two of Australia’s major 
banks and the fourth senior facility is provided by a global investment bank. Warehouse facilities of the 
Group are sourced through the Funding Vehicles. The warehouse facilities are secured against the book  
of receivables created by the factoring and invoice finance debtors and trade finance clients. Draw downs 
and repayments in and out of the warehouse facilities occur on a daily basis; repayments into the facilities 
allow the Group to fund further lending commitments. A formal facility reset occurs on a monthly basis, 
with daily requirements met by an overdraft facility. The Group aims to have sufficient undrawn capacity 
in its warehouse facilities to ensure it can continue to fund new lending commitments at all times, which 
it manages by refinancing warehouse funding on a regular, programmatic basis.

Provided that there are sufficient eligible factoring and invoice finance receivables to secure the loan,  
no liquidity risk exists until the various warehouse facilities expire. Each of the facilities has an agreed 
amortisation period of 12 months within which refinancing can occur.

FACILITY TYPE EXPIRY
FACILITY 

LIMIT

DRAWN 
BALANCE  

AS AT 
30/06/2018

Warehouse facilities Earliest in June 2019 $1,334 million $992 million

Mezzanine debt June 2019 $60 million $50 million

Corporate debt December 2019 $70 million $59 million

COVENANTS
The Group has various financial and non-financial covenants under its financing facilities that can affect 
matters such as funding availability, repayments and the liabilities of the Group. Receivables funded within 
the senior facilities are tested monthly for compliance with these covenants. If the Group’s operating 
results deteriorate, including incurring significant losses, the Group may be unable to meet the covenants 
governing its indebtedness, which may require the Group to seek amendments, waivers of covenant 
compliance or alternative borrowing arrangements, or to reduce debt or raise additional equity.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument 
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include  
both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and therefore these 
totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position.
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NOTE 16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED – 2018

1 YEAR OR 
LESS 

$’000

BETWEEN 1 
AND 2 
YEARS 
$’000

BETWEEN 
2 AND 5 

YEARS 
$’000

OVER 5 
YEARS 
$’000

REMAINING 
CONTRAC-

TUAL 
MATURITIES 

$’000

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade and other payables 10,513 – – – 10,513

Interest bearing – variable

Borrowings – 55,315 – – 55,315

Total non-derivatives 10,513 55,315 – – 65,828

CONSOLIDATED – 2017

1 YEAR OR 
LESS 

$’000

BETWEEN 1 
AND 2 
YEARS 
$’000

BETWEEN 
2 AND 5 

YEARS 
$’000

OVER 5 
YEARS 
$’000

REMAINING 
CONTRAC-

TUAL 
MATURITIES 

$’000

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade and other payables 10,587 – – – 10,587

Interest bearing – variable

Borrowings – 55,079 – – 55,079

Total non-derivatives 10,587 55,079 – – 65,666

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than 
contractually disclosed above. Repayment of the warehouses is dependent on timing of receipts of  
cash flows from underlying client trade receivables.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The Group has considered all financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value to determine whether 
the carrying value is an accurate reflection of fair value. The directors consider that due to the short-term 
nature and/or the variable rate arrangement of the borrowings, the carrying amounts of financial assets 
and financial liabilities, which include cash, client receivables, payables and borrowings, are assumed to 
approximate their fair values.

NOTE 17. REMUNERATION OF AUDITOR
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu, the auditor of the Company:

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$

2017 
$

Audit services – Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Audit or review of the financial statements 497,000 437,000
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

30 June 2018

NOTE 18. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Scottish Pacific Business Finance Pty Limited and Benchmark Debtor Finance Pty Limited are defendants 
in proceedings before the Supreme Court of New South Wales.

The initial claims date back to 2011 and are not only denied completely, but are also subject to potential 
insurance recoveries. Based on this situation, no provision for loss is recognised in the 
financial statements.

NOTE 19. COMMITMENTS

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Lease commitments – operating

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 2,941 2,260

One to five years 8,781 3,076

11,722 5,336

NOTE 20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
PARENT ENTITY
Scottish Pacific Group Limited is the parent entity.

SUBSIDIARIES
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 22.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
SP Tradeline (International) Limited
SP Tradeline (UK) Limited (Scottish Pacific UK) and Scottish Pacific Trade Limited (Scottish Pacific HK) 
have entered into a paying and collecting agency agreement with SP Tradeline (International) Limited 
(Scottish Pacific International). The directors of Scottish Pacific International are Craig Michie and  
Chris Hedge, being the directors of Scottish Pacific HK and Scottish Pacific UK respectively, and 
employees of the Group.

Under the agency agreement, Scottish Pacific International has been appointed as the agent of  
Scottish Pacific HK and Scottish Pacific UK to maintain and manage the UK bank accounts of  
Scottish Pacific HK and Scottish Pacific UK (the Trust Accounts). All monies in each Trust Account  
are held on trust for Scottish Pacific HK and Scottish Pacific UK.

No transactions under this agreement was made in FY18.

Steelforce Australia Facility with Scottish Pacific
The Group provides a debtor financing facility to Steelforce Australia Limited (Steelforce). Steelforce is 
a company of which Patrick Elliott is a director and Next Capital is a majority shareholder. The facility  
will be on standard terms that would ordinarily apply to clients of the Group. Neither Patrick Elliott nor 
Next Capital will have any direct involvement in matters concerning that facility for either Steelforce or 
the Group.

RECEIVABLE FROM AND PAYABLE TO RELATED PARTIES
There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous 
reporting date.

LOANS TO/FROM RELATED PARTIES
The Group had loans to Steelforce of $40.3m as at 30 June 2018.
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NOTE 21. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

PARENT

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Loss after income tax (9,097) (44)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – –

Total comprehensive income (9,097) (44)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

PARENT

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Total current assets (371) 39,144

Total non-current assets 176,838 175,144

Total assets 176,467 214,288

Total current liabilities 29 17,502

Total non-current liabilities 12,769 –

Total liabilities 12,798 17,502

Net assets 163,669 196,786

Equity

 Issued capital 206,959 206,959

 Share-based payments reserve 679 213

 Accumulated losses (43,969) (10,386)

Total equity 163,669 196,786

GUARANTEES ENTERED INTO BY THE PARENT ENTITY IN RELATION TO THE DEBTS OF ITS 
SUBSIDIARIES
The parent entity had guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2018 arising  
from the Deed of Cross Guarantee and the Corporate Debt Borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2018.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2018  
and 30 June 2017.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

30 June 2018

NOTE 21. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the Group, as disclosed in note 1, 
except for the following:

• Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.

• Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the parent entity and its 
receipt represent a distribution of value from subsidiary to parent.

NOTE 22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following  
wholly-owned corporate subsidiaries in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1:

OWNERSHIP INTEREST

NAME

PRINCIPAL 
PLACE OF 
BUSINESS/
COUNTRY OF 
INCORPORATION

2018 
%

2017 
%

Tartan Bidco Pty Limited Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Scottish Pacific Holdings Pty Limited Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Scottish Pacific Business Finance Pty Limited Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Benchmark Debtor Finance Pty Limited Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Scottish Pacific Trade Pty Limited Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Scottish Pacific (BFS) Pty Limited Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Integral Collections Pty Limited Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Scottish Pacific Business Finance Limited New Zealand 100.00% 100.00%

Scottish Pacific Business Finance Administration Limited New Zealand 100.00% 100.00%

Scottish Pacific Trade Limited Hong Kong 100.00% 100.00%

SP Tradeline (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00%

Scottish Pacific Business Finance (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00%

On 6 January 2017 the Group acquired 100% of the ordinary shares of Scottish Pacific Business Finance 
(UK) Limited (formerly Sterling Trade Finance Limited).

Scottish Pacific Benchmark Master Trust (SPBMT) was established as a special purpose vehicle for the 
securitisation of client receivables for Scottish Pacific Business Finance Pty Limited. Scottish Pacific (BFS) 
Warehouse Trust 2016 (SPBWT) and Scottish Pacific (Paringa) Warehouse Trust 2016 (SPPWT) were 
established as special purpose vehicles to fund client receivables of the Group. The Trustee of SPBMT, 
SPBWT and SPPWT is BNY Mellon Australia and the Trust Manager is BNY Mellon. The servicer of  
SPBMT, SPBWT and SPPWT is the Company.

Scottish Pacific New Zealand Trust (SPNZT) was established to provide a vehicle for securitisation of  
the client receivables of Scottish Pacific Business Finance Limited based in New Zealand. The Trustee  
of SPNZT is The New Zealand Guardian Trust Company Limited and the Trust Manager is BNY Mellon.  
The servicer of SPNZT is the Company.

Scottish Pacific (Mezzanine) Funding Trust 2016 was established to fund client receivables, and is  
funded 50:50 by the Group and external lenders.

All above trusts are owned 100% by the Group (FY17: 100%).
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NOTE 23. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE
The following entities are party to a deed of cross guarantee dated 24 June 2016 under which each  
entity guarantees the debts of the others:

Scottish Pacific Group Limited
Tartan Bidco Pty Limited
Scottish Pacific Holdings Pty Limited
Scottish Pacific Business Finance Pty Limited
Scottish Pacific (BFS) Pty Ltd

By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare 
financial statements and directors’ report under Corporations Instrument 2016/785 issued by the 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

The above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Corporations Instrument, and as 
there are no other parties to the deed of cross guarantee that are controlled by Scottish Pacific Group 
Limited, they also represent the ‘Extended Closed Group’.

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of financial position are 
substantially the same as the Group and therefore have not been separately disclosed.

NOTE 24. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2018 that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect the Group’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Group’s state of  
affairs in future financial years.

NOTE 25. RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Profit after income tax expense for the year 33,331 20,442

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 828 770

Amortisation of Intangible assets 6,862 5,802

Provision for bad and doubtful debts (922) 1,061

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

 (Increase)/decrease in receivables 732 7,505

 (Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets 596 (3,166)

 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (693) (15,110)

 Increase/(decrease) in provision for income tax 2,318 685

 Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 571 164

Net cash from operating activities 43,623 18,153
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

30 June 2018

NOTE 26. CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CONSOLIDATED

FINANCE 
LEASE 

LIABILITY 
$’000

DEBT 
FACILITIES 

$’000
TOTAL 
$’000

Balance at 30 June 2017 416 904,415 904,831

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (227) 137,633 137,406

Balance at 30 June 2018 189 1,042,048 1,042,237

NOTE 27. EARNINGS PER SHARE

CONSOLIDATED

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of  
Scottish Pacific Group Limited 33,331 20,442

NUMBER NUMBER

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating  
basic earnings per share 139,191,601 138,235,911

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:

 Dilutive options over ordinary shares 208,900 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted 
earnings per share 139,400,501 138,235,911

CENTS CENTS

Basic earnings per share 23.95 14.79

Diluted earnings per share 23.91 14.79

Number of potential ordinary shares that are not dilutive as at 30 June 2018: 4,153,356 (FY17: 1,879,374).
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Directors’ declaration
 

In the directors’ opinion:

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting 
Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements;

• the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position 
as at 30 June 2018 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date;

• there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable; and

• at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended 
Closed Group will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, 
subject by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee described in note 23 to the financial statements.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

 

 

Patrick Elliott Peter Langham
Chairman and Non-Executive Director CEO and Executive Director

28 August 2018
Sydney
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of 

Scottish Pacific Group Limited 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial report of Scottish Pacific Group Limited (the “Company’) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 
June 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including:  
 
(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of their 

financial performance for the year then ended; and   

(ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have 
also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has 
been given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as 
at the time of this auditor’s report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters  
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial report for the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
 
 
  

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
 
Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
PO Box N250 Grosvenor Place 
Sydney NSW 1210 Australia 
 
Tel:  +61 (0) 2 9322 7000 
Fax:  +61 (02) 9322 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key Audit Matter How the scope of our audit responded to the 

Key Audit Matter 
Revenue recognition 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 the Group 
has recognised fee income of $69.9 million 
and interest income of $78.9 million. 
  
As disclosed in Note 1, fee income is 
derived from administering client accounts, 
recovering expenses and other sundry 
sources. Fee income is primarily 
determined by the assessing and 
processing of trade debtors assigned to the 
Group as collateral for the client 
receivables.  
 
Judgement is required in assessing timing 
of recognition of revenue across the 
different types of fees in accordance with 
the relevant accounting standards.    
 
 
 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited 
to: 

- Reviewing the design and operating 
effectiveness of controls relating to the input  
and review of client data,  

- Engaging IT specialists to assess the General 
Information Technology Controls around the 
core systems which calculate fee income, 

- Evaluating the robustness of management’s 
review of the monthly revenue balances and 
investigative processes to identify errors on 
a timely basis, 

- Performing substantive analytical procedures 
to determine the reasonableness of the fee 
income balances based on current business 
activity, 

- Assessing the different fee revenue streams 
to identify which fees should be amortised 
over the expected life of the client in 
accordance with the relevant accounting 
standards as part of the effective interest 
rate, 

- Testing the recalculation of the management 
fee balance on a sample basis, and 

- Selecting on a sample basis client contracts 
and agreeing the client specific rates to the 
underlying revenue transactions on a sample 
basis. 

 
We have also assessed the appropriateness of the 
disclosures in Note 1 to the financial statements. 
 
 

 
Other Information  
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Directors’ report, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and also includes the 
following information which will be included in the annual report (but does not include the financial 
report and our auditor’s report thereon): Chairman’s Message, Chief Executive Officer’s Report, and 
Shareholder Information, which are expected to be made available to us after that date. 
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior 
to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
When we read the Chairman’s Message, Chief Executive Officer’s Report, and Shareholder 
Information, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 
communicate that matter to the directors and use our professional judgement to determine the 
appropriate action.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

 

 
 
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group’s audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.  
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We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.  
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
Report on the Remuneration Report 
 
Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 10 to 18 of the Directors’ Report for the 
year ended 30 June 2018.  
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of the Scottish Pacific Group Limited, for the year ended 
30 June 2018, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
Responsibilities  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  
 
 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
 
Heather Baister 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Sydney, 28 August 2018 
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Shareholder information
 

ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) and not shown elsewhere 
in this report is as follows. The information is current at 17 August 2018.

Scottish Pacific Group Limited shares are traded on the ASX under the code ‘SCO’.

SHARE REGISTRY
Link Market Services
Level 12, 680 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Phone: +61 1300 554 474

REGISTERED OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Level 5, 20 Bond Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Phone: + 61 2 9372 9999

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(AS REPORTED IN SUBSTANTIAL HOLDING NOTICES PROVIDED TO THE ASX)

NAME
NUMBER OF 

SHARES
CURRENT 
INTEREST

CBA 18,243,940 13.11%

Ellerston Capital 23,082,316 16.58%

Yarra Funds Management 13,266,773 9.53%

H.E.S.T Australia as Trustee for Health Employees Superannuation Trust 
Australia 12,105,902 8.70%

AustralianSuper Pty Ltd 8,946,383 6.43%

JP Morgan Chase & Co 8,776,181 6.31%

Eley Griffiths Group Pty Limited 6,996,420 5.19%

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
There are 1,559 holders of 139,191,601 ordinary shares.

ORDINARY SHARES

NUMBER OF 
HOLDERS

NUMBER OF 
SHARES

1 – 1,000 212 99,146

1,001 – 5,000 583 1,734,035

5,001 – 10,000 353 2,745,521

10,001 – 100,000 363 9,499,780

100,001 – and over 48 125,113,119

Total 1,559 139,191,601

There are 48 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel (1,172 shares).
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DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDINGS – OPTIONS (UNLISTED)
Scottish Pacific Group Limited has 4,095,480 unquoted options on issue issued under an employee  
share plan. These are held by 16 employees.

UNLISTED OPTIONS

NUMBER OF 
HOLDERS

NUMBER OF 
OPTIONS

1 – 1,000 – –

1,001 – 5,000 – –

5,001 – 10,000 – –

10,001 – 100,000 2 118,763

100,001 – and over 14 3,976,717

Total 16 4,095,480

TOP TWENTY SHAREHOLDERS

RANK NAME 17 AUG 2018 %IC

1 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 40,103,247 28.81

2 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 23,962,484 17.22

3 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 22,842,410 16.41

4 National Nominees Limited 12,017,862 8.63

5 BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd 5,120,443 3.68

6 BNP Paribas Noms (NZ) Ltd 4,017,743 2.89

7 Langham Investments Pty Ltd 2,425,055 1.74

8 Netwealth Investments Limited 1,489,503 1.07

9 Ecapital Nominees Pty Limited 905,663 0.65

10 Avanteos Investments Limited 896,895 0.64

11 Warbont Nominees Pty Ltd 850,779 0.61

12 BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd 834,102 0.60

13 Mr Jinyue Zhang & Mrs Ting Wu 724,900 0.52

14 Peter Langham & Fiona Langham 673,554 0.48

15 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – A/C 2 611,233 0.44

16 Micho Corporate Services Pty Ltd 558,841 0.40

17 Mr Ian Murray Nicol 524,898 0.38

18 Mr Christopher John Hedge & Mrs Julie Rowena Hedge 515,000 0.37

19 Sandhurst Trustees Ltd 492,250 0.35

20 Beraem Pty Limited 365,000 0.26

Total 120,341,751 86.46

Balance of register 18,849,850 13.54

Grand total 139,191,601 100.00
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Shareholder information (continued)

 

ON-MARKET BUY BACK
There is no current on-market buy back.

VOTING RIGHTS
The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below:

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote  
and upon a poll each share shall have one vote.

Unlisted options have no voting rights.

There are no other classes of equity securities.

SECURITIES SUBJECT TO VOLUNTARY ESCROW
There were no ordinary shares held in a voluntary escrow arrangement as at 31 July 2018.

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Scottish Pacific Group Limited securities are only listed on the ASX. 
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under the trade symbol SCO with 
Sydney being the home exchange.

DIRECTORS
Mr. Patrick Elliott
Mr. Andrew Love
Mrs. Katrina Onishi
Mr. Peter Clare
Mr. Peter Langham

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr. David Rose
Ms. Emma Lawler

HEAD OFFICE AND 
REGISTERED OFFICE
Level 5,
20 Bond Street
Sydney, NSW 2000
GPO Box 9969
Sydney NSW 2001

Telephone +61 2 9372 9999

www.scottishpacific.com

SHARE REGISTRY
Link Market Services Ltd
Level 12.
680 George Street
Sydney, NSW 2000
Telephone +61 1300 554 474

registrars 
@linkmarketservices.com.au

www.linkmarketservices.com.au

AUDITOR
Deloitte
Level 9,
225 George Street
Sydney, NSW 2000
Telephone +61 2 9322 7000

www.deloitte.com

NOTICE OF ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING
Friday 30th November 2018
10:30am

Dexus Place
Level 5,
1 Margaret Street
Sydney, NSW 2000

OFFICE LOCATIONS
AUSTRALIA

Sydney
Level 5,
20 Bond Street
Sydney, NSW 2000

Melbourne
Level 9,
333 Collins Street
Melbourne, VIC 3000

Brisbane
Level 18,
10 Eagle Street
Brisbane, QLD 4000

Perth
Ground Floor
88 Collins Street
West Perth, WA 6005

Adelaide
Level 3,
431 King William Street
Adelaide, SA 5000

NEW ZEALAND

Auckland
Level 4,
32-34 Mahuhu Crescent
Auckland

ENGLAND

London
37-41 Gower Street
London, WC1E 6HH

CHINA

Guangzhou
Room 1208
Fuli Yingkai Square
No.16 Hua Xia Road
Zhujiang New Town
Guangzhou
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